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INTRODUCTION


A crime committed against one person has countless victims. Tragedy spreads out like spilled blood. To those affected directly or indirectly by serious crime, it makes little difference whether a case lives on in the public conscience. For them, the effects remain just as shattering and unatonable, regardless of who else may remember or care.


I have always been more interested in the victims than the criminals, in the effects than the causes. The causes are usually banal or unfathomable, while the effects are unpredictable and often unimaginable. In crime fiction, murder usually has a motive, and the cosier the fiction the more meticulously the motive can be mapped. The classic whodunnit is typically an exercise in reassuring escapism, sending us all to our beds with detailed explanations of how such things happen, making murder seem a far-fetched and faraway threat, an exotic puzzle which is fun to solve and does not involve real human suffering.


Likewise, detectives in fiction are usually at some distance from their real-life counterparts. Literary detectives, from the rose-growing Sergeant Cuff in The Moonstone (1868) to the opera-loving Inspector Morse, and most vividly Sherlock Holmes himself, are outsiders, solitaries who watch life through a window, with a darkened view of human nature, their detached, unconventional viewpoint enabling them to see the solution that plodders and bobbies miss, their superiority softened by eccentricity, their brilliance blemished by a destructive vice. Yet in my experience, real-life detectives are practical characters, determined yet diligent, resilient yet sensitive, with a pessimistic view of criminals but an optimistic view of ordinary people. It is this unrecognised sensitivity that is in part responsible for this book.


Police officers are fine storytellers – a skill crafted through years of having to piece a case together concisely and incisively, on paper and in the witness box. They find ways of compartmentalising, rationalising, even trivialising their experiences, but there is often one story which they cannot forget yet prefer not to remember. I have had the privilege to be told some of those stories. And in turn, I have found others along my own path. Some have stayed with me. The five that make up this book have obsessed me.


The fascination they hold for me is not itself reason enough to justify their inclusion. These stories are being told here for their relevance as well as for remembrance. Crimes of the past are a window into social history, revealing how the world has changed and, in some instances, how it still needs to change. While some of these stories suggest that criminality can occasionally be cured, what still seems to elude us is its prevention.


Some of the examples of societal attitudes and behaviours of the past are inevitably unsophisticated, shocking in their ignorance or their lack of compassion. While society has adopted a more compassionate attitude to such problems as delinquency, it has hardened its attitudes elsewhere, particularly regarding crimes of a sexual nature. Where we are progressing most, perhaps, is in our respect for the victims of crime and in the resources now available to them.


These stories come from a different age also in terms of attitudes towards the police. Compared with today’s aggressive controversies and scandals, these stories, which generally are examples of compassionate and diligent detection, should remind us of the value of public–police co-operation. They also warn us that an unquestioning hostility to the forces of law and order is as dangerous a stance as one of unquestioning respect, for most police officers do the best they can in a job that few of us could endure.


Recently, there have been devastating revelations of police officers being responsible for serious crimes, even murder. Such situations are rare but not unheard of. Dennis Nilsen was a former police officer and John Reginald Christie was a war reserve constable. It is an unfortunate fact that positions of authority and trust will always attract the vile as well as the valiant, for the same reason that there has been a disproportionately high number of sexual offenders among teachers and priests. Evil, predatory people see in those positions a way to gain access to the vulnerable. It is agreed that applicants for police forces need fiercer scrutiny. But police forces also need the co-operation of the public if we, as a society, are to be protected by them rather than from them.


Any writer in the genre of true crime must wrestle with those moral questions concerning intruding on private suffering and the avoidance of insensitivity and voyeurism. A great deal of trust and generosity has been shown to me during my research. I hope that those people who have shared their stories with me will not have cause for regret.


The playwright John Hopkins devoted much of his career to writing about the effects of crime. Shortly before his death in 1992, he said:




The desire to discover the truth of why a man lives in this hellish situation where he murders, where he lives with evil, compromises with evil … to use a less emotive word, does bad things … we search to understand.


The stories I told took me down dark roads, into areas that have not been good for me. I’m not well, I have Parkinson’s, but more important than that, I think that the work that I have done over the last thirty years has taken such a toll on my ability to deal with this evil that I have written about and thought about and tried to understand. But it’s an incurable obsession, and it will wreak its havoc on you.


In the end the only thing that you want to do is understand why one person hurts another person.1





This book was christened A Deafening Silence because one thing that I have learned above all else in a decade of writing about historic crimes is that for those who lose someone through murder, an enduring, inescapable silence fills their lives, a silence that remains forever unbroken. A case may be half a century old, its only remaining public trace a few lines in a yellowed newspaper, but when one comes face to face with a member of the victim’s family, you realise that, in their world, it happened yesterday.


There is a further reason why this book is called A Deafening Silence. It is a reference to the overwhelming lack of answers that there still are, and perhaps always will be, to the simple question of why such things happen, how one person can wish to take the life of another, to gain so little through causing so much pain.


Simon Farquhar
London
April 2024
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‘All truths wait in all things’


‘Song of Myself’, Walt Whitman
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A TRAGEDY IN FAIRYLAND


Janet Stevens (1955–1970)


There are carols by candlelight this evening in the thirteenth-century church of St Michael and All Angels, Pirbright. This is the community’s overture to the season of goodwill, to be followed in the coming week by singing in the churchyard and a crib service for the children. Then, once again, it will be Christmas.


Although close to the noisy town of Woking, the Surrey parish in which this clean, cherished place of worship nestles is sweetly rural, the village green framed by two welcoming pubs and a sprinkling of little shops and crowned with a twinkling, duck-splashed pond. In summer, a team in cricket whites flutter dove-like across the grass to rippling applause; in December, clusters of fairy lights hang from handsome gables heralding Christmastime. Tonight, the choir lead the congregation in the solemn beauty of ‘Once in Royal David’s City’, while outside in that chilly churchyard, beyond the tall granite headstone of Sir Henry Morton Stanley,* there lies an unmarked grave, an unseen memorial of an unforgivable and unfathomable crime.


A crime committed at Christmas underlines the callousness of those who visit such horrors upon the world. At a time for kindness, for families, for children, still devils walk among us, impervious to the season’s fashion for compassion and felicity. The last day of Janet Stevens’ life had all the ingredients of an idyllic greetings card scene: a child and her mother by the fire, picture-book stories and a rural snowscape – a white Christmas that was blackened by cruelty.


My introduction to this devastating story came when I was interviewing John Hurst, a retired senior officer of Surrey Police. I asked him, as I always ask police officers, how he coped with the horrors that an officer must face in the course of duty.


‘Inevitably,’ he said, ‘some cases stay with you. I remember a dreadful case where a baby was killed by the teenage babysitter.* And many years ago, I worked on what the press called “the Red Riding Hood murder”.’


When I asked about this, he said, mournfully, ‘A young girl delivering presents to her grandmother on Christmas Eve in the snow got killed by two dreadful guys.’1


The stark summary captures exactly the incurable cruelty of the case – and its abject senselessness. Despite it being a major news story over the Christmas of 1970, it has barely been written about since then, and despite spending a year researching it, I wrestled for a long time with doubts over whether I could justify telling it here. The reason that I am doing so is because, while the case may have been forgotten by the wider public, it remains important in what we can learn from it, and how much we still have to learn about how such crimes occur. What follows is the first full account of this tragedy and my attempt to make some sense of something that I simply cannot understand.


Today, Pirbright is very much a realm of affluent commuters but in 1970 this was a rural Trumpton, which five years earlier had been named ‘Best Kept Village in Surrey’. Noted Pirbrightians included the village’s much-loved GP, Dr McCall, who was also at one time chair of the parish council; Mr Cherryman, the captain of the bellringers; and Major Jim Slowly, landlord of the White Hart, a pub eccentrically decorated with his vast collection of brasses, Toby jugs and miners’ lamps.2 At the other end of the green was the Cricketers pub, with a brood of chickens out back, eggs sold on the bar and an annual tug-of-war out front. West of the village, woodland and heathland serve as rifle ranges for the nearby barracks of recruits for all five regimental companies of footguards. Tucked into the edge of the forest, the imposing mock-Tudor mansion Admiral’s Walk was at this time home to eccentric board game inventor Baron de Veauce. This was a happy land, rich in delightful place names such as Cockadobbin, Christmaspie and Surprise Hill.


A ‘quiet, shy girl’,3 Janet Stevens was born on 12 March 1955, the first child of Alf and Brenda Stevens, who in December 1970 had just celebrated their seventeenth wedding anniversary. Alf was a transport foreman at Vokes, a nearby engineering firm. Janet lived with her parents, younger sister Patricia and tortoiseshell cat in a council cottage on West Heath, at the north-western edge of the village, just a short walk from the church and the village green. Also living in the village were her father’s identical twin brother Frank and his family, and her 80-year-old paternal grandmother, Kit.


At 15, Janet was studying for her O levels in the fifth form of the Winston Churchill School in Woking, which former headmaster Bernard Roder described as ‘a lovely new school, just three years old at the time. It was designed in the old-fashioned way, with a hall that could be extended to hold everyone, making it a real community and allowing the children to be assembled easily to be talked to about anything.’4


‘Janet and I sat next to each other for English at school,’ remembers Dee Elliott:




Playing on her name, we were fond of calling her ‘Janette’. She honestly was one of the sweetest, most pleasant people you could meet, and a very gentle girl. Of all the girls in our year, she would be the least likely person such a thing could happen to. It was so horrific, she had done nothing to anyone.


She had lovely dark hair in a style that always made me think of Disney’s Sleeping Beauty. She was always friendly and chatty though she kept herself to herself, and she was never unkind. There was a girl in our year who was always heavily made-up, always in trouble and clearly heading for trouble, and I can remember us both saying how we wouldn’t want to end up like her. I remember her telling me that she hoped to become a hairdresser.5





Janet was planning to leave the following summer but in the meantime was ‘very much looking forward to a school trip to Switzerland’.6


‘I was a few years younger than Janet,’ remembers villager Kevin Crouch:




… but everyone knew the family, a lovely family. My dad was very close friends with Janet’s uncle Frank and used to go shooting with him. Alf had a little Hillman Imp, Frank just a bicycle. I can still picture the family sitting outside the Cricketers on the village green, watching the game.7





The morning papers on Christmas Eve that year delivered hope of a white Christmas, which in rural superstition promises a prosperous year ahead. Despite industrial unrest which had already led to a state of emergency being called over a dock strike, tensions in the Middle East and the boom and brightness of sixties Britain symbolically coming to an abrupt end with the crotchety break-up of the Beatles, the tabloids looked on the bright side as the year drew to a close, reporting ‘the jingle of coins as well as bells’ in department stores enjoying last-minute spending sprees.8


The Railway Children opened in British cinemas in time for the holiday season, and hearts across a bitter Britain were warmed by a gift of a story about a premature new-born baby found abandoned in a dustbin in Glasgow and taken to the Royal Maternity Hospital, where she was now in an incubator. She was nearly frozen when found but, in the words of a paediatrician, had ‘virtually come back from the dead’.9 Nursing staff knitted her a baby jacket and readers anxiously called the hospital for updates, while police and well-wishers gifted her toys and sent money and offers of adoption.


The baby girl, whom the nurses had christened Carol, since she had been brought in during a carol service, was now making good progress and was pictured on the front page of the morning’s Daily Sketch as two nurses stood over her, depicting ‘The looks that tell an unwanted baby that somebody loves her … despite being dumped in a dustbin to die’. It was the perfect seasonal story and, unlike the story that succeeded it on the front pages immediately after Christmas, it had a happy ending.


The Stevens household stirred at 8 a.m. on Christmas Eve when Brenda Stevens rose to go to work. She cycled back from the village green at 1.40 p.m., arriving home to make egg sandwiches for the family lunch, after which Patricia went across to a neighbour’s house and Alf said that he was going for a walk to his brother’s cottage. Mother and daughter settled by the fire.


Unlike most children on Christmas Eve, Janet was thinking not of her own presents to come but of those she was giving to others. Brenda Stevens later told police, ‘Janet and I sat by the fire and she said, “I haven’t got much for Dad for Christmas. I would like to get him something else.” So I suggested she bought him a large box of chocolates at Marshall’s stores.’10 Mrs Stevens gave her daughter her 12 shillings pocket money and Janet put on her coat and scarf, saying that she would also take Granny Stevens her Christmas presents, since the family were planning to spend Christmas Day with Janet’s maternal grandmother in Aldershot. Janet said that she would be back by 5 p.m. and asked for something special for tea.


She took two presents from under the Christmas tree. Her gift, in a blue seasonal wrapping, was a pair of Brettle’s lisle stockings which Mrs Stevens had bought from Bentall’s at Kingston. Patricia’s gift, in a red seasonal wrapping with candles and holly on, contained a glass dish and a dainty brooch. She had won the dish at the Brookwood Hospital Flower Show in the summer and decided to give it to Granny ‘because she likes that sort of thing’. The brooch was bought from a stall at Kingston Market. The presents were both crowned with ribbon rosettes made by Patricia. Janet slipped them both into her bag, then went next door to see if her sister would accompany her, but Patricia was engrossed in a BBC1 screening of Hansel and Gretel.* Mrs Stevens said that Janet left at about 2.45 p.m. She would never see her again.


There are so many heart-breaking elements to this story, one of which is a page of Mrs Stevens’ police statement, where she is asked to describe her daughter’s clothing that Christmas Eve. She stated that Janet was wearing a turquoise raincoat, a white polo-neck sweater, a black cardigan, deep red cord trousers and black shiny shoes, but it is the loving detail that only a mother would know that haunts the mind – the raincoat, bought from Marks & Spencer, had one button missing, the cardigan was bought from C&A two days earlier, as were the cords, which Janet had taken up herself, the jumper was given to Janet by Mrs Frear at Marshall’s Stores, the shoes were size 5 with big clumsy heels, bought from Lilley & Skinner in Guildford and had ‘had reasonable wear’. Janet’s scarf, which she usually wore once round the neck and untied, had been hand-crocheted by Patricia.


The last person to see Janet alive was student Jane Oldfield, a neighbour who was working as a temporary postwoman while on her Christmas break. As she was taking mail to the first house on the close, she saw Janet leaving her home and waved ‘hello’ to her. She saw Janet turn left at the end of the close, towards Church Lane, then continued her round. She saw nothing suspicious.


As the light faded, shops closed up and families settled into Christmas Eve. With storybook timing, snow began to fall across the county, but as it grew darker, Brenda Stevens grew more and more concerned about her daughter. She later said, ‘Janet was thoughtful. She would never have let me sit and wonder where she was. It wasn’t her, not my Janet. She would have phoned.’11 It was quickly established that she had never reached her grandmother’s or Marshall’s. The walk to her grandmother’s was less than a mile by road and, although it was quicker by following a footpath across the fields, she probably would not have done so because she needed to go via the village green for her father’s present.


By early evening, Janet having not returned, the family were frantic and reported her missing to the police at Woking. Detective Chief Inspector (DCI) Jeff Bloomfield immediately drove to Pirbright to interview them and left convinced that Janet had not run away and suspecting foul play. He reported to Chief Superintendent Maurice Jackman, who organised for an extensive search to be carried out in daylight and began recalling officers from leave. It was police policy at this time to encourage single men to work over Christmas, giving married officers a chance to spend the holiday with wives and families. ‘It is organised as amicably as possible, on a more or less voluntary basis. The men who do work are not paid but given extra leave instead.’12


That evening, house-to-house inquiries began in the village. At a dance at the Pirbright social club, officers made the first announcement of Janet’s disappearance and appealed for information and assistance.13 At the church’s midnight service, the new vicar, Reverend John Cunningham, appealed to the ninety people who had attended to take Communion and welcome in Christmas to help in the forthcoming search.14


For the rest of the county, that year’s Christmas story would read ‘like a fairy tale’.15 Despite the weather, there were record congregations not only for the midnight service at Guildford Cathedral, where more than 1,200 attended on Christmas Eve, but for many village parish churches across the county, many of which held collections for the east Pakistan relief fund after a catastrophic cyclone in November. ‘For those dreaming of a white Christmas, the snow fell with a vengeance on Christmas Eve, accident figures were among the lowest ever, swift action from the various local authorities prevented the chaos which struck the rest of England, and Christmas Day brought a bumper crop of Christmas babies.’


The snow fell, snow on snow, through the night. At 2 a.m., council trucks called at the homes of the county’s brigade of volunteer snow clearers, who worked until 9 a.m. to keep the roads safe. By Christmas morning, the temperature was perishing, the conditions appalling.


As well as relying on help from the community, the police needed help from the media. Tony Forward was a detective inspector with thirteen years’ experience in the Surrey Constabulary and had recently been appointed as its public relations officer:




My wife and I had invited our next-door neighbours in for a drink and they happened to ask me, ‘D’you ever have to work on Christmas Day?’ I said that this was actually the first Christmas Day that I hadn’t had to work. Within about ten minutes of me saying that, the telephone rang and I was told, ‘You’re wanted at Pirbright. A little girl’s disappeared and they want to get the press involved.’16





The weather and the public holiday were both immediate and serious challenges to the situation. The police needed a command post to run the inquiry from, but no mobile HQ was immediately available. ‘The governor of the White Hart on the corner of the village green, Major Jim Slowly, was a lovely man and very pro-police,’ remembers Tony:




I went to see him, and he said, ‘If you want my saloon bar to be your headquarters, do it.’ So we did, it temporarily became the headquarters for the inquiry.


At this stage, we still have a missing child. I was tasked with the job of interesting the press, television, et cetera, but it was Christmas Day, and no reporters were working. In those days, there was only BBC and ITV; in our area the ITV region was Thames Television. I tried to contact both, to no avail. I could raise no interest at all in this from a television or a newspaper point of view. I did have the home number of Don Cassidy, who was a partner in Cassidy and Leigh, the Southern News Service, based in Guildford. They were a press agency that picked up news within the Home Counties and fed it to the national press or television. I got on very well indeed with him but when I called it was the same story, there was ‘nobody to pass it to today’.





As inquiries progressed, Tony remembers:




The Chief Constable of Surrey, Peter Matthews, actually turned up in the freezing cold with a boxful of warm chicken pies, bottles of brandy and a stack of plastic cups. He’d got a local bakery and an off-licence to open up. That was our Christmas lunch, but it taught me a valuable lesson for later on in my career: look after the welfare of those working under you.





The police had enlisted the help of the skeleton staff of thirty on Christmas duty at Pirbright Guards depot a mile away, but they were overwhelmed by the help they received from the villagers. At 3 p.m., as the Queen’s Christmas Message was broadcast to the nation, in which she spoke of learning to be concerned for one another, treating your neighbour as you would like him to treat you and caring about the future of all life on earth, matters of the spirit being ‘more important and more lasting than simple material development’,17 nearly fifty volunteers assembled on the green to search Stoney Castle rifle ranges, the large area of wood, scrub and heathland to the west of the village. One of them was Dr Michael Milligan. ‘I was a very young doctor at the time, 25 and newly qualified,’ he recalls. ‘I was staying with my brother in Pirbright over Christmas. We heard about the missing child and decided to join the next search.’18


The party spread out in a line and trekked through the ranges. Half an hour into the search, a group who had taken a wrong turn were searching the dense woods towards the Mychett Road when one of them, 23-year-old labourer David Bowler, looked down to his left and amid the mossy tuffets saw a face on the ground. His first thought was that she was asleep. A blanket of bracken was covering her up to her chest, upon which was a coating of snow. After the initial shock, he alerted the others then hurried back to his car. He drove to the incident post on Pirbright village green and took a uniformed officer and a detective back to the frightful scene.19


Dr Milligan was searching nearby when ‘there was a shout that something that had been found and I was asked to examine the body’. He noted that, as well as the lower half being covered with bracken, ‘her shoes were off her feet and lying to one side by her hip, the zip of the trousers was undone, the upper clothing was disturbed and the skin was showing’.20 There was also no bra on the left breast. ‘I put my ear to the body and found there was no heartbeat.’


Detective Constable (DC) Charles Mitchell would later remember ‘standing with Chief Superintendent Maurice Jackman, looking at the girl’s body lying in the snow’. Jackman, the head of the Woking subdivision, despite being a former RAF gunner with twenty-three years’ experience as a police officer, ‘was crying and in a violent rage at what had happened’.21


Jackman sent for the pathologist, Dr Mant, and Dr Milligan was then driven by Dr McCall to West Heath. As they approached, they saw Janet’s parents walking down from their house. ‘We picked them up, took them back to their home and broke the news to them.’22


Under the Christmas tree, Janet’s present from her parents still lay unopened. It was a hairdryer set, which was to have been the first stepping stone towards the career that she would now never reach.


Dr Mant arrived at the scene at 4.45 p.m. as photographs were being taken. His superficial examination recorded that the body was very cold and the face partly frozen, suggesting that death had occurred not less than eight hours previously. There was a broad ligature impression on the neck which could have been made by the scarf, and a narrow one which could have been made by a lanyard which was found loosely looped around the right wrist. The cardigan and raincoat had been pulled down on the right arm, but despite the bra having been pulled up under the partly raised jumper and the trouser zip fastener having been pulled down, a post-mortem examination that evening at St Peter’s Hospital, Chertsey, revealed that there had been no sexual interference. Cause of death was given as asphyxia due to strangulation.23 Janet’s 12 shillings and 4 pence was still in her pocket.


Alf’s brother Frank identified the body of his niece. He had last seen her alive three days earlier, when she was walking along the village green. He said that he had seen her almost daily since the day she was born. He was also her godfather.24


Further examination of the crime scene was impossible due to the ferocious weather, so for the time being the area was being protected with a canvas and a polythene sheet. An army tent and vehicles were put at the police’s disposal, all police leave was halted and fifty detectives were assembled for the inquiry.


With the discovery of the body, the investigation was taken over by Detective Chief Superintendent (DCS) John Plaice, the head of Surrey CID, and his deputy, Walter Simmons. Plaice had joined the police in 1935. Rustic-voiced and with a hobby of coin collecting, he was, in Tony Forward’s words, ‘a real gentleman’. Simmons was an equally assured detective with twenty years’ experience since serving with the Royal Marines.


The snowfall which had begun on Christmas Eve was so heavy that barely any rail services could function in the days after Christmas, despite the points heaters having been left on throughout Christmas Day.25 It was a quiet Britain, with the M1 deserted and British Rail running empty ‘ghost’ trains through the night to keep the tracks free of ice. Surrey’s volunteer snow clearers were out again for seventeen hours on Boxing Day clearing main trunk roads.


The south of England had been the worst hit, seeing more snow than at any Christmas since 1927, with a fall of 8in in parts of Kent. Fifty counties were befallen by snow, fog and ice. In Pirbright, the traditional Boxing Day meet of the Bisley and Sandhurst Hunt was sabotaged by the weather. The white Christmas delighted children but paralysed Britain, yet the investigation ploughed on determinedly.


While Janet’s parents were treated for shock and her sister was placed under sedation, officers continued with exhaustive door-to-door enquiries, with patrol cars frequently snowbound while trying to reach isolated cottages. The freezing, lonely guard on the protected murder scene continued until the thaw came. The snow had covered not only any scents, making tracker dogs useless, but any tyre tracks that the killer may have left.
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For John Plaice, a priority was locating the one thing it seemed that Janet’s killer had taken, along with her life – her red shopping bag and the two Christmas presents it had carried. It also seemed probable that Janet had been abducted in a car. The desolate location where her body was found suggested local knowledge,26 which in turn, offered up the possibility that Janet may have known her killer. Every male in the village was a potential suspect, but it was unlikely that any marks had been left on her attacker in a struggle, as she had been wearing gloves.


‘Things started to happen now,’ says Tony Forward. ‘Quite a few press people started to appear, and at last I had a television crew too so I could get news coverage.’ On the BBC Evening News on Boxing Night, John Plaice appealed to anyone who was in the Pirbright area between 2 p.m. and 7 p.m. on Christmas Eve for the shopping bag and its contents, making it clear that ‘every house in Pirbright will be visited’.27 Film was also shot at the murder scene. In a ghastly foreshadowing of events, BBC cameras had visited the ranges just ten weeks earlier, when the site was used as a location for an episode of Z Cars which had concerned a missing child who had been picked up in a car.*


By now, a mobile HQ had been set up outside the White Hart, so customers were able to use the saloon bar again, ‘although it did get used fairly well by us too,’ says Tony Forward. There were no newspapers over the Christmas period, the next being the editions of Sunday, 27 December, so resourceful journalists spent Boxing Day scrambling for information, flocking like the villagers to the pub to hear the latest developments:




Jim Slowly united all his local customers, they were all desperate for us to make an arrest. It was a little girl, so feelings were running high in the village. People who probably weren’t normally patrons of that pub went there because it was the hub, they wanted to find out from each other what was going on.





Dee Elliott says:




The first that I knew of what had happened was when I walked up to see my boyfriend who lived at Brookwood, just along from Pirbright. It was over Christmas and, in those days, not many people had telephones, so we would meet by the box on the corner. He didn’t turn up, so I walked up to his house and found him and his parents being interviewed by the police. It was very scary to realise that all the boys in your group were being questioned. Janet was such a gentle person, didn’t have a boyfriend and didn’t really mix with the boys, so you started to wonder why every male was being questioned and how anyone could suspect anyone that we knew. We were all friends, no one would have harmed her. My father worked at the Fox garage at Bisley at the time and knew quite a few of the policemen. He came home and told us they’d found her. One of them had said to him, ‘We’ve found our little Red Riding Hood.’28





The phrase was to become tabloid shorthand for the case, and although the name obviously derived from the circumstances of a girl ‘loved by everyone’, who lived in a cottage ‘in a village on the edge of a large forest’ on her way to deliver gifts to her grandmother, one also cannot help but be struck by her desolating resemblance to the Ladybird book painting of the character.29 The Sunday tabloids led with the broken fairy tale, the People noting that the news had not yet been broken to Janet’s grandmother.30


While the nationals and locals continued to talk to villagers and police, a bag identical to Janet’s had now been obtained, which Tony Forward showed on the television news. With the daily newspapers returning the following day, pressure grew for an interview with Janet’s parents.


‘I said to the press, “Hold on, they’ve just lost their daughter in terrible circumstances. Let me go and talk to them first and see if they are prepared to be interviewed”, which I did,’ says Tony:




I went to see them, and they said that if it would help then, as long as I was there throughout, they would agree to it. I have been with many recently bereaved parents, both as a police officer and in my later role as a funeral celebrant. Because of my police background, funeral directors would often book me for funerals that were particularly troubling – traffic fatalities, suicides, children’s deaths, murder victims. Janet Stevens’ parents were like all parents who had lost a close relative in circumstances that were totally unexpected. Numb is probably a good word. If they had said, ‘No, we don’t want to talk to anybody’, then that would have been it, it would not have been pressed.





Having gained their consent, he then had to make the situation as endurable as possible:




I said to all the press, ‘Look, I just want one of you, please, to represent everybody. I don’t care whether it’s someone from the Press Association who will feed everything to the rest of you, or our local press agency, who would do the same.’ They agreed, and a guy from the Press Association came in with me to do the interview. As we went in, I said to him, ‘Please be gentle with these people.’ We went in and chatted for about half an hour. After a while the parents relaxed a bit. They were really just talking about their daughter, and their shock. And that all got fed into the national press.





Sitting by the fire, Mrs Stevens said, ‘I want this man caught so that nobody else goes through this. I never want anyone to suffer like we have’, but she admitted, ‘if he is caught it is not going to help me’.31


Stories were starting to circulate that Janet had been seen talking to a Scots Guardsman at the bus stop on the green a few days before her death. In response, her mother said, ‘Janet was quiet and very shy. She had not reached the boyfriend stage yet. She was one for the home. She liked cooking, made her own clothes and wanted to learn the guitar.’32 Janet was ‘not friendly with any Scots Guardsman’ and never went out by herself or with other girls, except to go babysitting. Janet did occasionally go to dances at Pirbright Social Club and soldiers there used to ask her to dance to ‘bring her out’ as she was so shy, but she was always with her parents or uncle.


The family were then left in peace while reporters fled to phone in their copy. As well as reporting on heavy absences across the country leaving factories and offices deserted, the following morning’s tabloids were electrified by the garbled reports that Janet had been seen talking to a soldier, and The Sun souped this up into a report that she had ‘made friends with a Scots Guardsman shortly before her death’.33 A villager was quoted as saying that she had seen Janet with the soldier at a dance and then again a fortnight later at the bus stop, while the Daily Mirror reported the case as one of four unconnected Christmas murder probes being hampered by snow.*


The press all captured something of the shock, confusion and devotion of the villagers. One said that Janet was ‘a lovely girl, a real angel. She was very shy and timid.’34 The then head of the parish council, Mr Laker, said:




This has been a great shock to our little village. It has been an appalling time, it’s so close to us all. Janet was a sweet little girl, and they are a lovely family. It is hard to believe that this has happened. Her father plays for the village cricket team and the family is well liked here. That was shown by the way people turned out on Christmas Day to search for Janet. We are all dreadfully upset by this tragedy.35





Chief Constable Peter Matthews paid tribute to the villagers, saying, ‘When you hear so much tripe about police–public relations, my God, you should see the way those men and women turned out, coming back from church and before having their Christmas lunch. They were tremendous.’36 In the Evening Standard, headmaster Bernard Roder said, ‘This is a terrible tragedy. She was a hard-working, well-behaved girl, always neatly dressed and well liked. This has been a terrible shock for me and my staff.’


Through the press, the police appealed for local girls who had been assaulted to come forward.37 There had been a spate of attacks on women in Weybridge by a teenager on a bicycle, and on 12 December, the attempted rape of an 11-year-old girl at Pirbright, for which a 21-year-old man was now in custody.* The Pirbright attack had not been publicised and, although none of these cases was connected to the murder, Janet’s mother was reported as saying that if she had known of these attacks, Janet would not have been allowed out on her own.


Police considered staging a television reconstruction of Janet’s last walk but, even without it, the public response had been colossal with over 100 telephone calls offering information, sadly all of it so far having proved useless. Then, on the afternoon of 28 December, came the breakthrough.


It is perhaps apt that a crime committed against a child and populated by so many images of childhood innocence ultimately was solved by children. On the afternoon of that Bank Holiday Monday, three mischievous but alert youngsters were playing by some garages on the Worsley Road council estate at Frimley, 5 miles from Pirbright. The garages, in a small close behind the houses, were looked after by the stern Mr Heed, whom the children had christened ‘Mr Grumpy’ after a previous scolding from him for playing in the area. After playing a game of hobby-horses, when they saw him approaching again, they hid in a gap and waited for him to park his car and go.


The ground was slippery, and as one of the children, Cheryl Amanda Wright, turned to help one of her friends, she happened to notice two loops and the top of a red plastic bag sticking out from under the leaves. She immediately connected the sight with the television appeals. Although sheltered from the snow, the bag had a shovelful of leaves on top of it and some soil, which made the child deduce that someone had scraped them over it. She told her friend, ‘Go and pick it up, it might belong to Janet Stevens.’38


Her friend, Jane Titmuss, looked inside the bag and saw a rosette which appeared to have come off a present. The children took the find to their mothers who, on exploring it, also found a bus ticket for the Aldershot & District Traction Company. They telephoned the police. A search of the area the following morning by Detective Superintendent Simmons revealed a glass dish lying in the field beside the hedge where the bag had been found.


The following day, after Janet’s inquest had been postponed for four weeks, the incident room relocated to Frimley Village Hall, where Simmons briefed officers to interview and search everyone who used the garages. On the afternoon of 30 December, Detective Sergeant (DS) Brian Cane and DC Charles Mitchell called at 119 Worsley Road. The door was opened by the nondescript 21-year-old David Smith. The officers identified themselves as members of the Woking murder office and asked Smith whether he owned one of the garages. He said that he owned No. 9 and that his father owned No. 4. He was the first of the garage owners who had been at home, the officers having already tried four others. They asked him why he wasn’t at work, to which he replied that he was off sick, having been ill since Christmas. DC Mitchell was immediately suspicious.


After stating that they were there concerning the murder of the girl at Pirbright, they were led by Smith to garage No. 9. Immediately after they arrived, he said that he thought that it had been broken into. The officers said that they doubted it, and after he had backed out his Morris 1000, they began to search, asking Smith to give an account of his movements on Christmas Eve.


Smith said that he had risen at 9 a.m. and he and a friend who lived opposite, Kenny Stevens, had then picked up another friend, Peter Baker, who lived on nearby Frimley Green Road, and driven to the Fox pub in Bisley. It was at this point that the officers noticed two items in the garage which ‘did not fit the person we were talking to, who was quietly dressed and of a different demeanour’.39 The first was a studded leather jacket, the other, the latest edition of the lurid magazine True Detective, with headlines about a rape story inside. Smith dismissed it as having ‘been there a long time, I might have brought it home’.40


Continuing the search, Cane moved back a piece of square boarding that was leaning against the wall. Behind it on the floor was a bone-handled sheath knife. Smith said, ‘I don’t know about that, it’s been here a long time.’ Cane then searched the car and asked Smith to unlock the boot. Beneath the floor beside the spare wheel was a screwed-up piece of paper which, when opened out, appeared to be wrapping paper – red with candles and holly depicted on it. Smith said that he had perhaps used it to wipe his hands after working on the car.


After relaying their concerns to the incident room, the officers took Smith to Camberley Police Station. On the journey, nothing was said about the case, but as Mitchell led the suspect into the interview room, he gave a discreet ‘thumbs up’ to the onlooking officers. Sitting down in the interview room at 4.30 p.m., Smith immediately volunteered that he had found the wrapping paper beside a shopping bag by the garages. Apparently, the bag, which was shiny and had a tartan lining – though he couldn’t remember it was red until pressed – was empty when he had noticed it on Christmas Day.


John Plaice and Wally Simmons then entered, Plaice telling Smith that they were making inquiries into the murder of a young girl at Pirbright on Christmas Eve and that he thought Smith could help. Smith was asked to give a full account of his movements that day and repeated that he had been in the Fox pub on the Bisley–Bagshot road, going on to say that they had left at about 1 p.m., driven to Farnborough, where they dropped Kenny Stevens off at the Queensmead car park, ‘then Pete and me drove to Guildford and Aldershot. I got home about half-past four, after I had dropped Pete off at the corner.’41


Plaice asked whether he had been drinking a lot, to which he replied, ‘No, I only had two ciders.’ He was then asked whether he went to Pirbright. Smith said, ‘No, I’m not sure. I don’t know where you mean.’


Plaice replied, ‘I believe you do know. I am going to leave now, but Detective Superintendent Simmons has some questions to ask.’


‘David,’ began Simmons, ‘this paper in your boot. I believe that wrapped a present. That bag you say you saw. That belonged to the murdered girl. Did you drive into the village that afternoon with Baker and pick up a girl in your car? Come along, you know what I am talking about, and you realise the seriousness of it.’


Smith then became agitated and said, ‘I can’t, I don’t remember, my head aches. I can’t believe it.’


‘It’s a simple question,’ continued Simmons. ‘Did you pick the girl up?’


Smith replied, ‘Oh God, yes. I can’t face my parents now.’


Simmons pressed him for the truth, saying that he would have to face it at some time.


Smith then replied, ‘Yes, I know what you mean but I can’t say it. It’s terrible. She was walking home. I don’t know how she got in the car. The next I remember she was running away. I pulled her scarf and we left her.’


Smith then broke down, shook violently, sobbed and shouted that he felt sick. He was given a hot drink and calmed down. It should be noted that this outburst was the closest that Smith ever came to displaying any emotion or regret about the crime, and even then, it was for himself and not for his victim.


He agreed to make a statement, although he ‘didn’t remember a lot more’. The statement he dictated ran to just 194 words and held barely a trace of empathy or admission, and no trace whatsoever of remorse. He said that after dropping Kenny Stevens off, he and Baker drove along the Hog’s Back ‘and I don’t remember where else. I remember being in a narrow lane and this girl came along. She was wearing a long coat.’42


There was a very long pause in the interview room, then he continued:




I can’t remember till the woods, we were in the woods, she was frightened and tried to run away. I grabbed her scarf. I put her in the wood and tried to cover her up. I was frightened. Pete was still with me, I was terrified. We drove home and I dropped Pete at the edge of my estate. I saw the bag in the car when I got home, the red bag. I unwrapped a present and threw it behind the garages and the bag too.





After Smith had signed the statement, Simmons asked him more about the bag and presents. Smith said that he stuffed the bag behind the garages and threw the dish into the field, then said, ‘Oh yes, there was something else. I’ve got this.’43 He reached into the left-hand pocket of his car coat and produced the brooch. ‘I picked it up in the woods when we left her.’ He then made an addendum to his statement:




I want to add, I think I put a piece of string round her wrists. I can’t remember where she was when I did it. I don’t remember, the string may have been in the car. We bunged one present out of the car in the Guildford Road between the canal bridge and the top of the hill. I threw it out while we were going along.44





That present, the stockings, discarded somewhere in the vicinity of the King’s Head pub on the outskirts of Frimley, was never recovered.


Smith’s statement contains no admission of wilful murder, instead being merely a spasmodic, mostly detached account of events. His claim to have found the brooch in the woods is a lie, since it was contained within one of the parcels and had been kept by him as a souvenir of his crime rather than being something that he had rescued from the crime scene.


Two officers had already been sent to arrest Peter Baker and bring him to Camberley Police Station. At 4.10 p.m., Detective Inspector (DI) John Horton and two other officers arrived at No. 55 Frimley Green Road, introduced themselves and told him that they were investigating the death of a girl at Pirbright and they wanted him to accompany them to the police station.


‘Yes, that’s all right,’ he replied.45


Baker had a long wait at the station while along the corridor, Smith was making his confession. Finally, at 5.50 p.m., Simmons and Plaice entered and informed Baker that they were investigating Janet’s murder and they believed he could help them with their enquiries.


‘I’m sure I can’t,’ was his nonchalant reply. After being cautioned, he gave the same account of the first part of the day as Smith, saying that he lost his bearings on the drive but remembered seeing a sign for Aldershot. He denied picking up a girl at Pirbright.


Plaice then said, ‘Think carefully. I have to leave now, and Detective Superintendent Simmons has some questions to ask you.’46


Simmons then asked him how old he was and about his work. Baker replied that he was a junior cook in the Royal Navy, currently on a fortnight’s leave. He also revealed that he was just 17 years old.


Simmons then said, ‘David Smith is in custody and I have just left him, and he has made a statement.’


Baker’s impervious response was, ‘Oh, has he? Let me see it then.’


Simmons passed him Smith’s statement, his reaction to which was, ‘Yes, but it wasn’t like that.’ He then agreed to dictate a statement of his own. It ran to just 515 words and unlike Smith, who had spoken ‘rationally but was agitated’ when confessing, Baker had to be asked several times to pause as he was dictating too fast for the officers.47 This is that statement:




On Christmas Eve I had been out with David Smith and Kenny Stevens. We had been to a pub called the Fox, I believe it’s near Bagshot. Then we went to Queensmead car park in Farnborough. We dropped Ken off. Then we went to have a drive around down towards Cove. Then Smithy lost me completely. Then we came up a narrow lane. There was a girl going the same way as we were going. Dave told me to grab her. I said no. I was too scared. He said, ‘Can you drive.’ I said yes and he told me to take the wheel. He stopped, got out of the car, bundled her in the back and I started to drive. I was scared of what he would do to me if I walked off. I heard her crying and he kept telling her to shut up. He had a knife in the back as well. He told me to turn around. I stalled the car about five or six times before I could do it. He told me to take over in the back and I said no. I eventually turned the car and he kept telling me to slow down – slow down. He told me to turn left because there was a van following us, it was a Thames Dormobile-type van, greyish colour. Then he told me to turn right. There were two concrete lanes, then he said, ‘Turn off in the woods’. I drove in about 50 yards and stopped. He handed me the knife, which I threw on the floor. He got out and pulled the girl out after him. I sat there petrified too scared even to turn round. He shouted at me to get out. I got out, walked into the woods a way and he searched her to see if she had any money on her. She was on the ground. He said something about having to get rid of her. He picked up a log to hit her over the head. I stopped him doing it that way. Then he started strangling her. He picked up a piece of rope and tried with that. Then he tied her scarf round her mouth. He kept trying and trying. I was shaking but he seemed quite normal. I felt her chest to see if her heart was still beating. Me and Dave tried some more and stood on her throat. Before this we dragged her into the woods. Dave covered her with bracken. We went back to the car, and Dave drove back to Frimley. I remember seeing the bag in the back of the car. I ditched one of the presents out of the car and left the bag in the car. I don’t know where I threw the parcel out, somewhere between Frimley and Pirbright. We went back to the garages, and I went home. On the way back we decided what we would say about where we would have been if we were asked. I am deeply ashamed of what I have done.48





Simmons and two other officers then drove Baker to Woking Police Station. The journey took them through Pirbright, and on arrival at the green, Baker leaned forward and said, ‘Slow down, I recognise this.’49 He pointed towards the White Hart and said that he remembered there was a phone kiosk by it. He then indicated Church Lane and said, ‘Turn up here, I want to show you where we went.’ They drove slowly up the lane and about 20yds before the turning for West Heath, Baker said, ‘This is where we saw her, drive on.’ He then revealed that they had then turned around at the entrance to West Heath and followed Janet back down Church Lane.


Guiding them back down Church Lane, at a narrow spot about 50yds along, Baker said, ‘This is where we bundled her in the car. I started to drive here, carry on.’ After directing them to the church, where he had turned the car round again, they then were pointed back up Church Lane, past West Heath and left into Mychett Road, then into a turning on the left for the rifle ranges. Driving in, Baker said, ‘That’s where I turned off into the woods. That’s where we left her, where the lights are.’ He pointed to the area where a guard was being kept on the murder site, then said, ‘We don’t have to go any further, do we?’


The officers then drove him on to Woking. As they pulled away, Simmons asked him whether the navy still issued lanyards to cooks. Baker said, ‘That was Dave’s, he had it with him.’


The exact location of the murder, the contents of the parcels and the detail of the lanyard and the scarf had all been withheld from the public and so together they verified the guilt of the two men. At 8.15 p.m. that evening, at Woking Police Station, Smith and Baker were charged with murder. After being cautioned, neither made any reply.


Simultaneously, searches were taking place of Smith and Baker’s homes. Baker’s bedroom yielded nothing of interest, and at first nor did Smith’s – his seemingly bland existence totalled clothes, a cassette recorder and tapes, a post office book, camping equipment and, rather more curiously, a twenty-first birthday card with the name of the sender cut out.


Two pairs of stockings tied in knots were found in a small cupboard on the landing, but it was the wastepaper bin that held the room’s horrific secrets. Police Constable (PC) Cedric Gardner fished out several pieces of torn-up lined paper which, when put together at the police station the following day, were revealed to be three sheets of an army memo pad. When the shabby handwriting was translated into legible type, the results were shocking.


Beside the names of various women were plans for both extreme violence and extortion. The first woman, Smith intended to ‘own’ and make £250,000 from through prostitution. He listed locations and estimates for houses which he intended to buy with the proceeds and plans for the woman, whom he referred to as ‘Slave 1’, to be ‘Kept in Cell in Frensham, 3 yrs. Then Hang.’ Of the five women listed on the first page, the first two were to be executed, the other three he would ‘keep’.


The second page details similar plans, but is even more extreme, with such intentions as ‘3 years torture then execute, Hang’ and for one, ‘Sell or Hang, Experiment’. Another woman he intended to ‘Keep till 40 years old. Photos (Blackmail) then Hang’. For another, ‘Affair then hang’, and another, ‘Kidnap, Photo. Torture, when fed up Hang’. Amid the depravity, there is the mundanity of plans for a four-bedroomed house in Ash, 3 acres of woodland and owning ‘200 petrol stations’.


PC Gardner also made a thorough examination of Smith’s car, where he found copious fibres which matched those from Janet’s maroon trousers, shoe-mark impressions on both rear-door sills and, on the passenger seat, a hammer.50 Also, importantly, fibres that were similar to those of Janet’s cord trousers were found on Baker’s trousers. Further forensic examination matched up strands on a piece of sticky tape and on the ribbon rosette found in the bag. The rosette was made of rayon tape with eighty-one parallel strands. Part of it had been split and had only thirty strands on it, while a corresponding piece of tape found in Smith’s car, discarded when the present had been torn open, had fifty-one strands on it.


The brooch and the dish were taken to West Heath and identified by Mrs Stevens. She also matched the wrapping paper with that on presents under the Christmas tree in the house. Examining the shopping bag, she pointed out a small tear which Janet had noticed when putting the gifts into it just before she left the house – and which she never got to mend.


Tony Forward remembers one final duty that he performed that evening:




After they’d both been charged, I went to the White Hart and addressed the customers. I said, ‘I’ve come here specially to tell you all that two men have been charged with Janet’s murder.’ There were claps and cheers of support, it was very emotional, because they’d all been so committed all through this.51







[image: ]





New Year’s Eve began with Smith and Baker being escorted to Woking Magistrates’ Court with their heads covered by blankets. They were remanded in custody for seven days, charged with murdering Janet Stevens ‘against the peace and contrary to common law’. Lord Swaythling, the chairman of the magistrates, asked them whether they had anything to say. They both said, ‘No’, but that they would like legal representation.52


Despite the elliptical, evasive nature of Smith’s statement, and the perfunctory nature of Baker’s, certain things were now clear. Despite Baker claiming that Janet was going ‘the same way as we were going’, the fact that they approached Church Lane from Pirbright Green proved that in fact they had first seen Janet walking towards them – a fact borne out by Baker going on to say that they turned the car around in West Heath before abducting her. This is important because it casts serious doubt on later claims that Smith’s motivation for the crime was robbery and the murder was a desperate afterthought. Driving towards Janet, they would have been in no doubt whatsoever that she was a child and therefore unlikely to have much money on her. Despite Baker saying that Smith searched Janet for money, it cannot have been a very thorough search because she was left with her pocket money still on her.
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